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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
EASTERN DIVISION 

 
NATIVE AMERICAN ARTS, INC., 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PETER STONE CO., U.S.A., INC., 
 
   Defendant. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 
 

 
 
 
 
 No. 08 CV 3908 
 
 Magistrate Judge Cole 

DEFENDANT’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 

Defendant, Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. (“Peter Stone”), by and through its attorneys, 

Tressler LLP, hereby submits its Reply in support of its Motion for Sanctions.  

INTRODUCTION 

NAA’s response amply demonstrates why sanctions are appropriate in this case.  NAA  

failed to perform a proper investigation before filing this lawsuit, filed this lawsuit for an 

improper purpose, and interjected baseless and frivolous liability and damages theories and 

purported expert witnesses that had been previously barred in similar cases.  Throughout its 

response NAA also challenges the Court’s ruling on summary judgment.  However, that ship has 

already sailed.  Although NAA filed an appeal of the Court’s ruling, that appeal was dismissed.  

This circumstances of this case present the reason why Rule 11 and Section 1927 were created. 

Consequently, the Court should grant Peter Stone’s motion. 

ARGUMENT 

A. NAA’s Standing Argument Was Without Any Evidentiary Basis And Is Frivolous 

NAA argues that it based its Article III standing argument on two things: (1) a violation 

of a statutory right created by the Act; and (2) an intangible injury to the reputation of authentic 
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Indian goods similar to that suffered by trademark holders.  However, numerous courts, 

including this Court, have held that Article III standing is jurisdictional and requires NAA to 

establish three essential elements: (1) it suffered an injury in fact ˗˗ that is, “an invasion of a 

legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not 

conjectural or hypothetical”; (2) its injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the 

defendant ˗˗ i.e., there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct; and (3) it 

must be likely that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. (ECF 323 at 15), citing 

Sterk v. Redbox Automated Retail, 770 F.3d 618, 623 (7th Cir. 2014).  Here NAA concedes that 

it had never had any evidence to support any of these elements.  Instead, NAA based its claims 

on its owner’s unsupported and speculative “feelings”.  (ECF 370-1 ¶ 4). 

NAA’s response harkens back to a strikingly similar lawsuit it filed back in 2005, NAA v. 

Specialty Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d 1080 (C.D. Cal. 2006).  In response to the defendant’s 

motion to dismiss in that case, NAA admitted that it had conducted no investigation from which 

it could reasonably conclude that it had suffered any actual injury as a result of that defendant’s 

conduct.  The District Court dismissed the complaint and in the process held that the filing of the 

complaint violated Rule 11: 

under the Court’s questioning, counsel admitted that plaintiff had conducted no 
investigation from which it could reasonably conclude at this time that it has been 
injured by defendants’ conduct. In fact, he admitted that he had spoken to no 
person who could document any actual injury. As counsel should well know, such 
an investigation is required before the filing of a complaint in federal court. Rule 
11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require that all pleadings be signed by a 
party or attorney of record. Fed.R.Civ.P. 11(a). It also requires that factual 
allegations have evidentiary support 

 
Specialty Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d at 1082.   

Undeterred from that ruling, NAA filed this lawsuit under the very same circumstances.  

Despite the Specialty Merchandise court’s ruling long before this lawsuit was filed, NAA admits 
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that it conducted no such investigation in this case to establish that it suffered any actual injury 

as a result of Peter Stone’s actions.  NAA concedes that the basis for filing this lawsuit was 

merely NAA’s owner Matthew Mullen1, personal and unsupported opinion.  Moreover, as this 

Court noted in its summary judgment ruling, not only was there no evidence to support standing 

when NAA filed this suit, NAA continued this lawsuit for more than six years without any such 

evidence.  (ECF 323 at 18-19).   

NAA’s reliance on the violation of the Indian Arts and Crafts Act (“IACA”), also fails.  

This Court rejected this argument out of hand in its summary judgment ruling.  Id.  The 

argument has been resoundingly rejected before this case was filed, including in Specialty 

Merchandise.  Article III standing is a separate and independent requirement to standing under 

the IACA: 

Given the remedies provision of the IACA, which allows a prevailing plaintiff to 
recover the greater of (1) treble damages or (2) statutory damages of at least $1,000 
per day each day a defendant engages in unlawful conduct, see 25 U.S.C. § 
305e(a)(2)(A)-(B), the Court believes a note of caution regarding the standing 
requirement is in order. As noted, the remedies provision of the IACA does not 
necessarily require a plaintiff to prove actual damages in order to be awarded a 
monetary judgment. The available statutory damages are not tied to plaintiff’s 
actual damages; rather, in fact, they serve as a substitute for proof of actual 
damages. Even the treble damages provision does not necessarily require proof of 
actual damages, as the statute defines “treble damages” to include gross profits 
accrued by a defendant (and therefore not necessarily profits lost by a plaintiff) as a 
result of its unlawful activities. Id. Therefore, it could be tempting, as a plaintiff, 
to believe that one need not be prepared to prove any actual damages in order to 
recover under the IACA. Here, plaintiff should not be led astray by this 
temptation. Although plaintiff may not ever be called upon under the IACA to 
prove any actual damages in this action, Article III of the United States 
Constitution requires proof of such damages in order to have access to the federal 
courts to establish and collect upon such a claim. Plaintiff must bear in mind that 
it shoulders the burden of proof on this issue, and this Court is required to 
jealously guard its own jurisdictional boundaries. See Stock West, Inc. v. 
Confederated Tribes, 873 F.2d 1221, 1225 (9th Cir.1989) (“A federal court is 
presumed to lack jurisdiction in a particular case unless the contrary affirmatively 
appears.”). 

                                                 
1 NAA’s counsel demonstrates an embarrassing lack of  knowledge of their own client representative Mr. Mullen by 
referring to him as “Mullens”.  (ECF 370 at 2, 13). 
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Specialty Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d at 1083.  Notably, Specialty Merchandise was decided 

after the 2000 amendments to the IACA where NAA now asserts that Congress gave it keys to 

the courthouse.   

Rule 11 requires that before a pleading is filed a reasonable investigation be done to 

support the allegations in the complaint.  NAA concedes that was not done here, and as a result 

sanctions are warranted.  In its summary judgment ruling this Cout noted: 

NAA points to no sales records or any figures of any kind or evidence anywhere in 
the record. In fact, the genesis of the $5000 “competitive damage” figure is shrouded 
in mystery, and that is a bit concerning since Rule 11 requires a pre-filing inquiry of 
the facts and Rule 26(a)(1) requires early on a computation of damages and an 
explanation of how the damages were computed. 
 

(ECF 323 at 20).  The mysterious $5,000 damages figure outlined in NAA’s disclosures is 

certainly not cleared up by NAA in its response.  The $5,000 figure was plucked from the air 

without any investigation or basis and simply a means by NAA to try to perpetuate this lawsuit.   

NAA’s argument that there is a “dearth of case law interpreting the Act” is meritless.  

(ECF 370 at 2). NAA’s standing arguments were also found to be without any evidentiary 

support and meritless in Specialty Merchandise, and by Judge Kocoras in NAA v. Indio.  (ECF 

323 at 29).  Moreover, as this Court noted in its summary judgment decision Judge Darrah gave 

an ominous warning to NAA in denying Peter Stone’s motion to dismiss in this case, a warning 

that NAA and its counsel ignored.  (ECF 323 at 17).  NAA’s assertion that Congress intended it 

to file this lawsuit is also frivolous, and directly contrary to this Court’s summary judgment 

ruling, as well as the decisions in Specialty Merchandise and Indio.  

Plaintiff cites Barrett, which stands for the proposition that to avoid sanctions NAA must 

present objectively reasonable arguments to support its position.  NAA has failed to do so.  NAA 

cites Walter for the proposition that sanctions are not automatically warranted when a party loses 
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a dispositive motion.  (ECF 70 at 1).  Peter Stone does not argue to the contrary.  Moreover, in 

Walter the court in fact entered sanctions to the prevailing party on the dispositive motion.  

There is no question that this Court has discretion to enter sanctions against NAA.  NAA argues 

that subjective bad faith is required if the conduct under consideration did not have an 

objectively bad faith basis.  Here NAA’s conduct in fact had an objectively bad faith basis.  

NAA also cites Dal Pazzo.  However, in that case, the court granted sanctions based on objective 

bad faith.   

B. NAA’s Counterfeit Theory Is Frivolous 

NAA argues that “it had the right to sue for harm to the reputation of authentic Indian 

goods much the way holders of a trademark have standing to sue to protect the reputation of their 

marks” and that the IACA “in effect grants a trademark to Indians and Organizations in the 

designation of authentic Indian-made goods as “Indian goods”, and cites Cashmere, a trademark 

decision superseded by statute.  (ECF 370 at 7).  This argument is frivolous.  In order to establish 

a claim for counterfeiting, NAA would have to establish (1) it owns a valid and protectable 

trademark, and (2) the defendant used in commerce a similar mark without authorization in a 

manner likely to cause consumer confusion, deception or mistake.” Philip Morris USA v. Liu, 

489 F.Supp.2d 1119, 1122 (C.D. Cal. 2007).  Here NAA owned no such trademark, and to 

suggest to the contrary is frivolous.  Also, even if it had, there is no basis to suggest that Peter 

Stone used a mark similar to NAA.  NAA did not even make the jewelry in the Wolfwalker 

Collection and, thus, could not ever assert a claim for counterfeiting.    

C. NAA’s Theory of Liability Against Peter Stone Was Frivolous 

Even if it had standing, NAA’s claim that Peter Stone violated the IACA is also 

frivolous.  The subject jewelry in the Wolfwalker Collection was in fact designed by a Native 
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American, Wendy Whiteman.  Ms. Whiteman in fact testified, without contradiction, that she is 

in fact a Native American.  (ECF 367 Ex. 4, Whiteman Dep. at 10, 12, 17-19).  NAA argues that 

it developed another theory that Peter Stone violated the Act by falsely claiming that the 

Wolfwalker Collection was Indian designed because Ms. Whiteman was not an Indian as defined 

by the Act.  NAA argues that Ms. Whiteman is not an “enrolled member of a recognized Indian 

tribe.”  However, this is irrelevant as this Court held “the word ‘enrolled’ does not appear in the 

IACA.”  (ECF 323 at 7).  Moreover, NAA never investigated this prior to filing the lawsuit and 

even after taking Ms. Whitman’s deposition did not withdraw the allegation or claims relating to 

Ms. Whiteman’s design of the jewelry.  In fact, NAA performed no pre-suit investigation into 

Ms. Whiteman whatsoever.   

NAA’s claim that Peter Stone violated the IACA by representing that the subject jewelry 

was made by an Indian is also baseless and without any evidentiary support.  To the contrary, 

Peter Stone displayed in its marketing communications, including on its website, that all of its 

products are made in Thailand, and on its website was a picture of the Peter Stone Thailand 

factory where all of Peter Stone’s products are made, with pictures of its Thai (and not Native 

American) factory workers. (ECF 272 ¶ 28).  Also, NAA purchased Wolfwalker jewelry on 

January 13, 2007 and in May 2008, and conceded it was readily apparent they were mass-

produced and the bag for each item had a sticker that said “Made in Thailand.” (ECF 323 at 10).  

NAA thus knew before filing this lawsuit that not only did Peter Stone not represent that the 

subject jewelry was made by Indians, but to the contrary represented that the jewelry was mass 

produced and made in Thailand. 
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D. NAA’s Damages Claims Are Also Frivolous 

  Plaintiff also challenges this Court’s analysis of damages.  (ECF 370 at 9, n. 4).  

However, NAA’s theory that only it could recover these damages is unsupported and contrary to 

this Court’s ruling.  (ECF 323 at 29-31).   

NAA argues that the damages were expressly authorized by the IACA.  However, the 

damages sought were entirely frivolous.  NAA sheds no further light on the competitive injury 

damages of approximately $5,000 that the Court found to be “shrouded in mystery”.  (ECF 323 

at 20.  NAA concedes that this figure was merely Mullen’s subjective and unfounded opinion 

and was not based on Peter Stone’s profits because they it was given before NAA ever received 

information on Peter Stone’s profits.  NAA concedes that it was seeking actual damages from 

Peter Stone but there is no basis to do so because there was no basis to claim that Peter Stone, a 

wholesaler, was in competition with NAA and, therefore, there was no basis to allege any 

competitive injury.  (ECF 323 at 9-10).   

NAA tries to evade its violation by asserting that its damages claim of $36,198,000 was 

not presented to the Court.  However, this assertion is false – this damage figure was presented in 

NAA’s disclosures and in its motion for summary judgment presented to the Court.  (ECF 323 at 

2).  NAA’s actions show that its modus operandi in these types of cases is to allege outrageous 

and baseless claims it had no standing to allege with exorbitant statutory damages claims in the 

hope that the defendant that it sued would not be willing to bet its continued existence on 

defeating NAA’s claims.  This type of coercion is nothing more than legal extortion that must be 

sanctioned.  The fact that NAA continued to pursue this lawsuit after settlement overtures were 

rejected is not a basis to avoid sanctions.  NAA attempted to settle this case throughout the 

lawsuit with the threat to Peter Stone that it would be wiped out if NAA prevailed.   
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E. Sanctions Are Also Proper For Plaintiff’s Barred Experts 

NAA attempts to evade sanctions for its experts.  NAA’s named experts in this case were 

barred in two virtually identical previous lawsuits, Indio and Bud K.  Berger’s survey was 

prepared for numerous cases, including this case and Bud K.  Given that Berger was barred in 

Bud K (ECF 367 Ex. 7), how could NAA ever imagine that Berger would be allowed to give 

these same opinions in this case?  Similar to NAA’s claims, Erachio and Berger had no basis for 

their opinions and failed to perform a reasonable investigation to support their unfounded 

opinions.  Thus, NAA’s statement that “being disqualified in one case, however, does not forever 

preclude the expert from giving an opinion in future cases,” (ECF 370 at 14) while theoretically 

true, in this case was unfounded because Berger was already barred in a similar case.  Also, 

Erachio’s opinions were barred in both Bud K and Indio (ECF 367 Exs. 6 and 7).   

In attempting to evade sanctions for naming these barred experts, NAA misses the point 

Peter Stone was forced to not only depose these witnesses to expose their improper opinions, but 

also name its own expert to counter their opinions.  Peter Stone should be reimbursed because 

these experts should never have been named in this case.  Notably, NAA fails to present any 

basis to support why these witnesses were named in this case or how their opinions could 

possibly be admissible in this case.   

F. Sanctions Are Also Proper Against Lubin 

Finally, Lubin attempts to avoid being sanctioned by arguing that he only came into the 

case in its middle.  NAA questions why the only attorney Peter Stone seeks sanctions against is 

Lubin. As demonstrated in NAA’s response, Lubin was lead counsel for NAA and was the 

driving force behind NAA’s actions after he took over the case.  There is no question that NAA 

should never have started this case.  After Lubin came into the case he was advised of the 
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frivolous nature of the claims.  Rather than dismiss the case, as he did in the similar Mangalick 

case, Lubin decided not only to continue the case, but doubled down by having discovery 

reopened, took numerous additional depositions, filed baseless motions for sanctions and served 

amended disclosures increasing Plaintiff’s statutory damages to $36,144,000. Thus, Lubin, along 

with NAA, should be sanctioned.   

Despite the rulings in Specialty Merchandise and Indio, and dismissing the Mangalick 

case, NAA fails to explain why it did not dismiss this case voluntarily, and instead continued to 

pursue this case despite the fact that it knew that it had no standing to pursue the claims.    

Contrary to NAA’s assertion, Peter Stone has specified NAA’s sanctionable conduct and 

Lubin’s sanctionable conduct.  This is amply demonstrated by NAA’s response which outlines 

the distinctions.  (ECF 370 at 3).   

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. requests that this 

Court grant its Motion for Sanctions and enter an Order awarding Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. 

its attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in defending this lawsuit against Plaintiff Native 

American Arts, Inc. and its counsel Peter Lubin and for such further relief as this Court deems 

proper. 

PETER STONE CO., U.S.A., INC. 
 
 
By:  /s/James K. Borcia     
 One of Its Attorneys 

James K. Borcia (jborcia@tresslerllp.com) 
TRESSLER LLP 
233 South Wacker Drive, 22nd Floor 
Chicago, IL 60606 
(312) 627-4000 
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